
 

 
Guildford Borough Council 
Millmead House, Millmead, Guildford, Surrey  GU2 4BB 

Guildford Borough Council
Millmead House, Millmead, Guildford, Surrey  GU2 4BB

 
www.guildford.gov.uk  

Contact:   

James Dearling  

01483 444141  

 11 March 2024 

  

Dear Councillor, 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held in Council Chamber, Millmead House, 
Millmead, Guildford, Surrey GU2 4BB on TUESDAY, 19 MARCH 2024 at 7.00 
pm. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Pedro Wrobel 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

MEMBERS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Chairman: Councillor James Walsh 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Philip Brooker 

 
Councillor Honor Brooker 
Councillor Jason Fenwick 
Councillor Lizzie Griffiths 
Councillor Gillian Harwood 
Councillor Steven Lee 
 

Councillor Maddy Redpath 
Councillor Joanne Shaw 
Councillor Katie Steel 
Councillor Dominique Williams 
Councillor Sue Wyeth-Price 
 

Authorised Substitute Members 
 

For the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, there is no limit on the number 
of substitute members for each political group on the Council. 
 

QUORUM: 4 
 

Pedro Wrobel
Joint Chief Executive
of Guildford and Waverley
Borough Councils

Page 1



 

 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be recorded for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website in accordance with the Council’s capacity in performing a 
task in the public interest and in line with the Openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014.  The whole of the meeting will be 
recorded,  except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the 
footage will be on the website for six months. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting of meetings, please contact 
Committee Services. 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

 

THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK (2021-25) 
Our Vision: 
 
A green, thriving town and villages where people have the homes they need, 
access to quality employment, with strong and safe communities that come 
together to support those needing help. 
 
Our Mission: 
 
A trusted, efficient, innovative, and transparent Council that listens and responds 
quickly to the needs of our community. 
 
Our Values: 
 

• We will put the interests of our community first. 
• We will listen to the views of residents and be open and accountable in our 

decision-making.  
• We will deliver excellent customer service.  
• We will spend money carefully and deliver good value for money services.  
• We will put the environment at the heart of our actions and decisions to deliver 

on our commitment to the climate change emergency.  
• We will support the most vulnerable members of our community as we believe 

that every person matters.  
• We will support our local economy.  
• We will work constructively with other councils, partners, businesses, and 

communities to achieve the best outcomes for all.  
• We will ensure that our councillors and staff uphold the highest standards of 

conduct. 
 
Our strategic priorities: 
 
Homes and Jobs 

 
• Revive Guildford town centre to unlock its full potential 
• Provide and facilitate housing that people can afford 
• Create employment opportunities through regeneration 
• Support high quality development of strategic sites 
• Support our business community and attract new inward investment 
• Maximise opportunities for digital infrastructure improvements and smart 

places technology 
 

Page 3



 

 

Environment 
 
• Provide leadership in our own operations by reducing carbon emissions, 

energy consumption and waste 
• Engage with residents and businesses to encourage them to act in more 

environmentally sustainable ways through their waste, travel, and energy 
choices 

• Work with partners to make travel more sustainable and reduce congestion 
• Make every effort to protect and enhance our biodiversity and natural 

environment. 
 
Community 
 
• Tackling inequality in our communities 
• Work with communities to support those in need 
• Support the unemployed back into the workplace and facilitate 

opportunities for residents to enhance their skills 
• Prevent homelessness and rough-sleeping in the borough 

 

Page 4



 

 

 
A G E N D A 

ITEM 
NO. 
  
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE 

MEMBERS   

2   LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT AND DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS  

 In accordance with the local Code of Conduct, a councillor is 
required to disclose at the meeting any Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest (DPI) that they may have in respect of any matter for 
consideration on this agenda.  Any councillor with a DPI must not 
participate in any discussion or vote regarding that matter and they 
must withdraw from the meeting immediately before consideration 
of the matter. 
 
If that DPI has not been registered, the councillor must notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the details of the DPI within 28 days of the 
date of the meeting.  
 
Councillors are further invited to disclose any non-pecuniary interest 
which may be relevant to any matter on this agenda, in the interests 
of transparency, and to confirm that it will not affect their 
objectivity in relation to that matter. 
  

3   MINUTES (To Follow) 

 To confirm the minutes of the Committee meeting held on 5 March 
2024. 
  

4   OPTION AGREEMENT WITH BLACKWELL PARK LIMITED IN RESPECT 
OF PURCHASE OF COUNCIL-OWNED LAND - CALL IN OF PROPOSED 
DECISION TAKEN BY THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR: PLACE (Pages 7 - 
16) 

Please contact us to request this document in an  
alternative format 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Guildford Borough Council 

Report to: Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

Date: 19 March 2024 

Ward(s) affected: Shalford, Worplesdon 

Report of Director: Transformation & Governance  

Author: John Armstrong, Democratic Services & Elections Manager 

Tel: 01483 444102 

Email: john.armstrong@guildford.gov.uk 

Lead Councillor responsible: Tom Hunt 

Tel: 07495 040978 

Email: tom.hunt@guildford.gov.uk 

Report Status: Open  

Option Agreement with Blackwell Park Limited in 
respect of purchase of Council-owned land - Call in 

of proposed decision taken by the Strategic 
Director: Place 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1  The proposed key executive decision taken by the Strategic Director: 
Place on 29 February 2024 in relation to entering into an Option 
Agreement on 8 March 2024 with Blackwell Park Limited providing 
the option for them to purchase a small parcel of Council-owned land 
necessary to enable development on Blackwell Park has been called 
in by a number of councillors for review by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC).  The purpose of this report is therefore to invite 
the OSC to consider the call-in. 

1.2 The call-in procedure and options, the reasons for the call-in, and 
details of the proposed decision are set out below.  

Page 7

Agenda item number: 4



 

2. Recommendation to Committee  

2.1 That the Committee considers a call-in of the proposed decision 
referred to above and decide whether to: 

• Refer the decision back to the decision-taker for reconsideration, 
with such comment and advice as the Committee deems 
appropriate; or 

• Endorse the decision, or not to refer the matter back to the 
decision-taker, in which case the decision shall take effect 
immediately. 

3. Reasons for Recommendation:  

3.1. To ensure the call-in is considered in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

4. Exemption from publication 

4.1. No part of this report is exempt from publication. 

5. Purpose of Report  

5.1. The purpose of this report is to invite the OSC to consider a call-in of 
the proposed key executive decision taken by the Strategic Director: 
Place on 29 February in relation to the proposal to enter into an 
Option Agreement with Blackwell Park Limited providing the option 
for them to purchase a small parcel of Council-owned land necessary 
to enable development on Blackwell Park. 

6 Strategic Priorities  

6.1  Principles of good decision-making, such as being open and accountable, 
underpin the Council’s strategic framework for delivery of its vision for 
the Borough.  Use of Overview and Scrutiny’s power of call-in can help 
ensure that the Council adheres to these principles. 

6.2 More specifically, call-in enables councillors to intervene when they 
feel that a decision being taken is questionable and needs to be 
revisited and possibly changed.  In addition, call-in can enable further 

Page 8

Agenda item number: 4



 

debate on a topic of political contention and provide a forum both 
for opposition to, and explanation of, a decision. 

6.3 Providing an opportunity to ask the decision-taker, or the Executive, 
to reconsider decisions before they are implemented can lead to 
improved decisions – in turn, improving the delivery of quality and 
value for money services – and help ensure we are more open and 
accountable to our residents. 

7. Background   

The call-in procedure and options 

7.1 Call-in is the power of Overview and Scrutiny to scrutinise a decision 
by the Leader/Executive or an individual Lead Councillor before it is 
implemented.  The call-in provisions can also apply to a key decision 
made by an officer with delegated authority from the Leader/ 
Executive.  

7.2 The effect of call-in is to prevent implementation of a proposed 
decision until the OSC has examined the decision.  The OSC has the 
power to refer a decision back to the decision-taker or to refer a 
matter for further review by the Council. 

7.3 The following extract from Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rule 16 is 
set out to assist the Committee in understanding the call-in 
procedure options: 

“(f) The OSC may review the decision itself or refer the matter to the 
Council for review.  If the OSC or Council, as the case may be, 
endorses the proposed decision, it comes into immediate force 
and effect.  If the OSC or the Council do not support the 
proposed decision, the matter shall be referred back to the next 
appropriate meeting of the Leader/Executive or to the individual 
decision-taker for decision with such comment and advice as the 
OSC or the Council deems appropriate. 

(g) Once a decision has been referred back to the Leader/Executive 
or individual decision-taker by the OSC or the Council on the 
basis described above, it shall not be subject to further call-in.  

Page 9

Agenda item number: 4



 

The decision shall then be final unless it is contrary to the policy 
framework or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget.” 

The current call-in  

7.4 In accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 16, 
Councillors Patrick Oven, James Brooker, Jason Fenwick, Sue Wyeth-
Price, and Catherine Young,1 have called-in for review by this 
Committee the following proposed decision taken by the Strategic 
Director: Place on 29 February 2024: 

Blackwell Park Development – Option Agreement 

Decision: 
“Subject to consideration of any objections to the Council’s notice of 
its intention to dispose of open space land pursuant to s123(2A) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 which closes on 7 March 2024, to 
enter into an Option Agreement on 8 March 2024 with Blackwell Park 
Limited providing the option for them to purchase a small parcel of 
Council-owned land necessary to enable development on Blackwell 
Park. If the option is exercised then, subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Option Agreement, the Council will transfer the 
land to Blackwell Park Ltd, for a further price, and an Overage 
Agreement will also be entered in to so that the Council can benefit 
from any additional financial gain as a result of the sale”. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 
“Selling the land to Blackwell Park Ltd will allow them to proceed 
with the development of a strategic site, allocated within the Local 
Plan, A26 Blackwell Farm. This meets the priorities set by the Council 
and supports delivery of the Local Plan. 
 
An Option Agreement provides Blackwell Park Ltd with certainty 
about the sale of the land and enables the Council to benefit from an 
immediate financial return. 

 
1  The Council’s threshold for a call-in is ‘any five members of the Council’. Alternatively, the chair of O&S 
may call-in executive decisions 

Page 10

Agenda item number: 4



 

 
An option fee is paid to the Council on completion of the Option 
Agreement and then, if the option is exercised, the Council will 
receive a further payment (minus the amount already paid for the 
option) which is the higher of: 
 
1. a set minimum value; or 
2. a percentage of the development valuation. 
 
It has been assessed that this deal represents best value for the 
Council in accordance with s123 of the Local Government Act 1972 
and therefore it is a good use of the Council’s assets to make a 
financial return and support the Local Plan”. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
“The Council has considered not selling the land to Blackwell Park 
Ltd, this would mean that development could not be delivered on the 
site which would not be consistent with the Local Plan. It would also 
mean that the Council was not making best use of its assets by 
securing a financial return for the Council. 
 
The Council has considered not entering into an Option Agreement, 
but this would create uncertainty for Blackwell Park Ltd in applying 
for planning permission and the terms of the Option Agreement 
ensure that the Council obtains best value as well as an immediate 
financial return”. 

Source of Authority to take Decision: Officer Scheme of Delegation 

Paragraph 3 of the list of powers delegated to the Strategic Director: 
Place states: 

 
“In consultation with the appropriate lead councillor and subject to 
being satisfied that the Council will receive the best consideration 
reasonably obtainable to sell land and buildings up to 0.2 hectares in 
area, following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and ward 
councillor(s) in compliance with the Land and Property Disposal 
Policy”. 

Page 11

Agenda item number: 4



 

Reason for the call-In 

7.5 In accordance with the criteria within Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule 16(c), Councillors Patrick Oven, James Brooker, Jason 
Fenwick, Sue Wyeth-Price, and Catherine Young have referred the 
above decision to this Committee for the following reason: 

“That the decision is not in accordance with the decision-making 
principles set out in the Constitution (criterion (iv) as referred to in 
Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rule 16 (c)), namely that it fails to 
comply with principle (d) referred to in the Principles of Decision-
Making in Article 14.2 (d) of the Constitution: that there should be 
a presumption in favour of openness in respect of the Council’s 
business. This decision breaches it for no good reason as such an 
important decision has been taken by an officer, without any 
opportunity for the public or councillors to engage with the 
decision-maker. The final decision on this matter should be taken 
by the Executive.  
 
Furthermore, Access to Information Procedure Rule 22.3 requires 
officers contemplating a decision in connection with an executive 
function to have careful regard to a number of principles in 
deciding how the decision should be taken.   
 
Principle (d) states that the officer should have careful regard to 
‘whether the proposed executive decision is sufficiently important 
and/or sensitive so that a reasonable member of the public would 
reasonably expect it to be taken by the Executive’. We submit that 
this decision was both of such importance and sensitivity that any 
reasonable member of the public would reasonably have expected 
it to have been taken by the Executive.” 

8. Consultations  

8.1. Although there have been no specific consultations in respect of the 
drafting of this report, the Strategic Director: Place consulted 
formally with the Deputy Leader of the Council and Lead Councillor 
for Regeneration, Councillor Tom Hunt, the Chief Finance Officer, and 
relevant local ward councillors prior to taking the decision in 

Page 12

Agenda item number: 4



 

accordance with the relevant power delegated to her in the scheme 
of delegation to officers. 

9. Key Risks  

9.1. None relating to this covering report. 

10. Financial Implications  

10.1. There are no financial implications relating to this covering report.   

10.2. The financial implications associated with the proposed transaction 
are set out in the decision in paragraph 7.4 above. 

11. Legal Implications  

11.1 Under section 9F (2) of the Local Government Act 2000, Overview and 
Scrutiny has the power to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other 
action taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which 
are the responsibility of the executive.  Furthermore, section 9F (4) 
empowers the Overview and Scrutiny committee to recommend that 
any decision made but not implemented be reconsidered by the person 
who made it.  

11.2 The Council’s Constitution (Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 16) 
indicates that the Committee’s options, if deciding to review the 
proposed decision itself, include referring the proposed decision back to 
the decision taker for reconsideration, with such comment and advice 
as the Committee deems appropriate, or endorsing the proposed 
decision.   

 
11.3 If the Committee endorses the proposed decision or determines not 

to refer the matter back to the decision taker, the proposed decision 
shall take effect immediately. 

12. Human Resource Implications  

12.1 There are no human resource implications arising directly from this 
report.   

 

Page 13

Agenda item number: 4



 

13. Equality and Diversity Implications  

13.1 The Council has a statutory duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010 which provides that a public authority must, in exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to:  

 
(a)  eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 

other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act;  
(b)  advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it; and  

(c)  foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.   

The relevant protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 
sexual orientation.  

13.2  This duty has been considered in the context of this report and it has 
been concluded that there are no equality and diversity implications 
arising directly from this report.  

14. Climate Change/Sustainability Implications  

14.1. No relevant climate change/sustainability implications apply to this 
report.   

15. Suggested issues for overview and scrutiny  

15.1  In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the proposed decision of 
the Strategic Director: Place dated 29 February 2024 has been called-in 
for this Committee to review.  Details of the decision are within this 
covering report, as are the options available to the Committee. 

16. Summary of Options  

16.1 The Committee is requested to consider the call-in of the proposed 
decision and determine whether to: 

 

Page 14

Agenda item number: 4



 

(a)  Refer the decision back to the decision taker for 
reconsideration, with such comment and advice as the 
Committee deems appropriate; or 

(b)  Endorse the decision, or not to refer the matter back to the 
decision-taker, in which case the decision shall take effect 
immediately. 

17. Background Papers  

None  

18. Appendices  

None 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda item number: 4



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Option Agreement with Blackwell Park Limited in respect of purchase of Council-owned land - Call in of proposed decision taken by the Strategic Director: Place
	Report to: Overview & Scrutiny Committee
	Date: 19 March 2024
	Ward(s) affected: Shalford, Worplesdon
	Report of Director: Transformation & Governance
	Author: John Armstrong, Democratic Services & Elections Manager
	Tel: 01483 444102
	Email: john.armstrong@guildford.gov.uk
	Lead Councillor responsible: Tom Hunt
	Tel: 07495 040978
	Email: tom.hunt@guildford.gov.uk
	Report Status: Open
	Option Agreement with Blackwell Park Limited in respect of purchase of Council-owned land - Call in of proposed decision taken by the Strategic Director: Place
	1.	Executive Summary
	2.	Recommendation to Committee
	3.	Reasons for Recommendation:
	4.	Exemption from publication
	5.	Purpose of Report
	6	Strategic Priorities
	7.	Background
	The current call-in
	Reason for the call-In

	8.	Consultations
	9.	Key Risks
	10.	Financial Implications
	11.	Legal Implications
	12.	Human Resource Implications
	13.	Equality and Diversity Implications
	14.	Climate Change/Sustainability Implications
	15.	Suggested issues for overview and scrutiny
	16.	Summary of Options
	17.	Background Papers
	18.	Appendices


